NO. 69814-1-I

 JRT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGT DIVISION ONE
 STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent,
v.
AENOY PHASAY,
 Appellant.
PEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE TE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY
 The Honorable Lori Smith, Judge
BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NEAL J. PHILLIP ERIC BROMAN Attorneys for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
<u>Issue Pertaining to Assignment of Error</u>
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
1. Procedural Facts. 3
2. <u>Substantive Facts</u> . 4
a. Summary of Incident 4
b. The relationship between the Phasay family and the Bennett family
c. The night before the shooting
d. The night of the shooting
i. The invasion of the Bennetts' home
3. Noy's recorded statement about the evening of March 30 th 9
4. Thomas's testimony about the shooting and the events leading up to it
5. Additional Witnesses. 16
6. The police investigation. 18
7. The court prohibits Mark from testifying about the argument with Tom. 19
a. Dr. Gerlock's testimony related to her diagnosis of post traumatic stress disorder (PSTD)
i. Direct examination

TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONT'D)

	Page
	ii. <u>Cross examination</u>
	b. The reconstruction by Dr. Jon Nordby and the defense motion to exclude
C.	ARGUMENT
	1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO ALLOW MARK TO TESTIFY ABOUT HIS ARGUMENT WITH TOM THE NIGHT BEFORE THE SHOOTING, AND TOM'S THREAT THAT "BULLETS WILL FLY."
	a. The Evidence was Admissible as Res Gestae
	b. Exclusion of the Evidence Violated Noy's Right to Present a Defense. 40
	2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING DR. JON NORDBY TO OFFER A SPECULATIVE, UNHELPFUL, AND UNFAIRLY PREJUDICIAL EXPERT OPINION 42
	3. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO OFFER EVIDENCE AND ARGUMENT THAT IMPUGNED DEFENSE COUNSEL AND NOY'S RIGHT TO COUNSEL
	4. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE SUGGESTING NOY HAD A DUTY TO RETREAT, AND THE PROSECUTOR COMMITTED MISCONDUCT BY SUGGESTING NOY HAD A DUTY TO RETREAT
	a. The trial court improperly admitted evidence suggesting Noy had a duty to retreat

	b. The prosecutor committed misconduct by improperly submitting evidence and making arguments that	Page
	suggested Noy had a duty to retreat	52
5.	IF DEFENSE COUNSEL FAILED TO TIMELY OBJECT TO THE STATE'S ARGUMENTS AND SUBMISSION	
	EVIDENCE, THEN INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE DEN NOY A FAIR TRIAL	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

WASHINGTON CASES
Davidson v. Municipality of Metropolitan Seattle 43 Wn. App. 569, 719 P.2d 569 review denied, 106 Wn.2d 1009 (1986)
<u>Griswold v. Kilpatrick</u> 107 Wn. App. 757, 27 P.3d 246 (2001)
Hiner v. Bridgestone/Firestone, Inc. 91 Wn. App. 722, 959 P.2d 1158 (1998)
Miller v. Likins 109 Wn. App. 140, 34 P.3d 835 (2001)
O'Donoghue v. Riggs 73 Wn.2d 814, 440 P.2d 823 (1968)
Queen City Farms, Inc. v. Central Nat'l Ins. Co. 126 Wn.2d 50, 882 P.2d 703 (1994) 43
<u>Safeco Ins. Co. v. McGrath</u> 63 Wn. App. 170, 817 P.2d 861, 865 (1991)
<u>Sanchez v. Haddix</u> 95 Wn.2d 593, 627 P.2d 1312 (1981)
<u>State v. Aho</u> 137 Wn.2d 736, 975 P.2d 512 (1999)
<u>State v. Black</u> 109 Wn.2d 336, 745 P.2d 12 (1987)
<u>State v. Boot</u> 89 Wn. App. 780, 950 P.2d 964 (1998)
<u>State v. Brown</u> 132 Wn.2d 529, 940 P.2d 546 (1997) cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1007 (1998)

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D)

Page
<u>State v. Brush</u> 32 Wn. App. 445, 648 P.2d 897 (1982) <u>review denied</u> , 98 Wn.2d 1017 (1983)
<u>State v. Cienfuegos</u> 144 Wn.2d 222, 25 P.3d 1011 (2001)
<u>State v. Corbett</u> 158 Wn. App. 576, 242 P.3d 52 (2010)
<u>State v. Dickenson</u> 48 Wn. App. 457, 740 P.2d 312 (1987)
<u>State v. Easter</u> 130 Wn.2d 228, 922 P.2d 1285 (1996)
<u>State v. Espey</u> Wn. App, 336 P.3d 1178 (2014)
State v. Greene 139 Wn.2d 64, 984 P.2d 1024 (1999)
<u>State v. Greiff</u> 141 Wn.2d 910, 10 P.3d 390 (2000)
<u>State v. Grier</u> 168 Wn. App. 635, 278 P.3d 225 (2012)
<u>State v. Hiatt</u> 187 Wash. 226, 60 P.2d 71 (1936)
<u>State v. Hudlow</u> 99 Wn.2d 1, 659 P.2d 514 (1983)
<u>State v. Hughes</u> 118 Wn. App. 713, 77 P.3d 681 (2003)

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D) Page State v. Janes State v. Jasper State v. Johnson State v. Johnson State v. Jones State v. Krenik State v. Lane State v. Lewellyn State v. Lewis State v. Lewis State v. Magers State v. McFarland 127 Wn.2d 322, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995)......54 State v. McKenzie

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D) Page State v. Negrete State v. Powell State v. Price State v. Redmond State v. Reichenbach State v. Rupe State v. Russell 125 Wn.2d 24, 882 P.2d 747 (1994) State v. Tharp 27 Wn. App. 198, 616 P.2d 693 (1980) State v. Thomas 109 Wash.2d 222, 743 P.2d 816 (1987) 1, 4, 5, 7-16, 18, 23, 31, 49, 53, 55 State v. Thompson 47 Wn. App. 1, 733 P.2d 584 State v. Thorgerson State v. Warren

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D) Page State v. Weber State v. Zhao FEDERAL CASES Bruno v. Rushen Chambers v. Mississippi Roe v. Flores-Ortega Sizemore v. Fletcher Strickland v. Washington 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)...... 53, 54, 55 United States ex rel. Macon v. Yeager 476 F.2d 613 (3d Cir.) cert. denied, 414 U.S. 855, 94 S. Ct. 154, 38 L. Ed. 2d 104 (1973) 47 United States v. Fosher United States v. McDonald

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D)

Pag
RULES, STATUTES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES
5A K. Tegland, Wash. Prac. § 291 (1982)
Edward M. Cleary, McCormick's Evidence § 190, (2d ed. 1972) 3
CrR 4.7
ER 401
ER 402
ER 404
ER 702
RCW 9A.32.050
RCW 9A.36.021
Const. Amend. VI
Const. Amend. XIV
Const. art. I, § 3
Const. art. I, § 22

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. In the early morning hours of March 30, 2010, appellant Aenoy Phasay ("Noy")¹ shot and killed decedent Thomas Bennett Sr. ("Tom") in self-defense after Tom attacked him. The trial court erred in refusing to admit, as *res gestae*, testimony about a heated conflict between Tom and Noy's brother, Mark Phasay, approximately 24 hours before Tom attacked Noy.
- 2. The trial court erred in allowing the state's crime scene reconstructionist to offer an opinion that was speculative and unsupported by any evidence at trial, and thus not helpful to the jury.
- 3. The trial court erred in refusing to grant the defense motion for a mistrial, where the state did not disclose, prior to trial, that the crime scene reconstructionist would likely have a new theory at trial, and the court allowed that theory to be presented to the jury over the defense objection.
- 4. The trial court erred in allowing evidence and argument that infringed on Noy's constitutional right to counsel.
- The trial court erred in allowing evidence and argument that contradicted Washington's "no duty to retreat" law.

¹ For clarity's sake, the first names of the primary individuals involved in the incidents, as those individuals were referenced during the trial, will be used in this brief.

- 6. Prosecutorial misconduct deprived Noy of his right to a fair trial when the prosecutor suggested Noy and his attorneys manufactured a defense, and presented evidence and argument contrary to Washington's "no duty to retreat" law.
- Defense counsel's failure to timely object to the admission of inadmissible evidence and argument constituted ineffective assistance of counsel.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. The night before the charged incident, Mark and Tom had a heated argument and Tom threatened Mark saying "bullets will fly." Did the defense properly offer Mark's testimony about his conflict with Tom as *res gestae*, and did the trial court improperly exclude the evidence?
- 2. Where the state's crime scene reconstructionist offered a new theory at trial that was unfairly prejudicial, where the theory was unsupported by evidence, and where the reconstructionist admitted his new theory was only one possible theory, was the "opinion" speculative, unhelpful to the jury and unfairly prejudicial, and did the court err in refusing to exclude it?
- 3. Where the state did not disclose the new theory in a timely manner and where the defense was prejudiced as a result of the late

disclosure, did the trial court err in refusing to grant a mistrial or exclude the evidence?

- 4. Did the trial court err in refusing to exclude the state's evidence and argument which suggested to the jury that Noy and defense counsel had met to manufacture a defense?
- 5. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct when he suggested the defense team had manufactured a defense, violating Noy's constitutional right to counsel?
- 6. Did the trial court err in refusing to exclude repeated statements from the investigating detectives and argument from the prosecutor wrongly suggesting Noy had a duty to retreat?
- 7. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct when he offered evidence that contradicted Washington law on "no duty to retreat"?
- 8. Where defense counsel failed to timely object to admission of inadmissible evidence, was Noy denied effective assistance of counsel?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural Facts.

On April 1, 2010, the state charged Noy with one count of second degree murder, alleging that Tom's death occurred March 30, 2010 during the commission of first and second degree assault. CP 1-6 (RCW 9A.32.050(1)(a)-(b)). An amended information filed June 22, 2012 added

one count of second degree assault committed against Thomas Bennett Jr. ("Thomas"). CP 10-11 (RCW 9A.36.021(1)(c)). On November 28, 2012, the state amended the information yet again, to add a second count of second degree murder, alleging that Noy intentionally caused Tom's death. CP 63-64 (RCW 9A.32.050(1)(a)-(b)).

Noy's trial took place from October 29, 2012 to December 6, 2012, the Honorable Lori K. Smith presiding. On December 6, 2012, Noy was found guilty of second degree intentional murder in count I (CP 134, 164) and second degree felony murder in count II. CP 142, 171. The jury acquitted Noy of the second degree assault against Thomas in count III. CP 170.

Sentencing occurred January 10, 2013. With an offender score of 0, the standard range was 123-220 months. CP 186. The court sentenced Noy to 124 months in prison, one month over the minimum, plus a 60-month firearm enhancement, for a total of 184 months. CP 188. This appeal follows.

Substantive Facts.

Summary of Incident.

The shooting that led to this appeal involved two men who had known each other for many years, 27-year-old Noy Phasay and 48-year-old Tom Bennett. Supp. CP _ (Sub No. 152, Phasay Statement, p. 2);

6RP 131. At approximately 3:00 a.m. on March 30, 2010, Tom confronted Noy in the Auburn Top Food parking lot and falsely accused him of involvement in a home invasion robbery and assault of Tom's wife and son. This occurred at Tom's home just a few hours earlier, which was possibly precipitated by a heated argument earlier that day between Tom and Mark Phasay, Noy's brother. In the parking lot, Tom beat and choked Noy, and stopped only because Tom's son Thomas intervened and stopped the beating. Noy, who did not believe the altercation with Tom was truly over, hit Tom on the head after Tom had gotten back into the car. According to what Noy told the police, Noy brought a gun for protection and took it out at some point; Tom lunged for the gun and Noy shot him. He did not intend to kill Tom, but shot him to protect himself. According to what Thomas told the police, after Noy hit Tom in the head he saw Noy with the gun, got out of the car to take cover, briefly saw a struggle over the gun, and then heard shots. Thomas later claimed Noy walked over to him after the shooting, pointed the gun at him, said "Don't say a word," and ran away.

Noy was charged with second degree murder for Tom's death and second degree assault for pointing the gun at Thomas. The jury found Noy guilty of second degree murder. It apparently did not believe that Thomas was entirely credible, as it acquitted Noy of second degree assault.

b. The relationship between the Phasay family and the Bennett family.

Noy had known the Bennetts for many years prior to the shooting. Noy dated Tom's stepdaughter, Melissa, several years previously while they were in high school. Noy and Melissa had a daughter together. Noy lived with the Bennetts for a short time in approximately 1999 or 2000, when Noy was approximately 16 or 17. 8RP 35, 66-69. After Noy and Melissa broke, up, Noy's brother Mark began dating Melissa and they eventually married and had children. 8RP 68.

Tom Bennett's reputation for violence and being quarrelsome was well-known in the community. Mark testified that Tom had a bad reputation in that regard. 8RP 112. He described Tom as arrogant, disagreeable, and hard to get along with. 8RP 119-20. One of Noy's sisters, Vilayvanh Phasay, testified she was aware of Tom's reputation that he could get violent when he has been drinking. 11RP 59. She further described him as "scary," a "redneck," a "drunky," "kind of fierce," "angry," and "always the hotshot." 11RP 89. Another of Noy's sisters testified that Tom's reputation was that "he was just drunk and bad." 11RP 92.

² This brief refers to the transcripts as follows: 1RP - 10/29/12; 2RP - 10/30/12; 3RP - 10/31/12; 4RP - 11/5/12; 5RP - 11/6/12; 6RP - 11/7/12; 7RP 11/8/12; 8RP - 11/13/12; 9RP - 11/14/12; 10RP - 11/15/12; 11RP - 11/26/12; 12RP - 11/27/12; 13RP - 11/28/12; 14RP - 11/29/12; 15RP - 12/4/12; 16RP - 12/5/12; 17RP - 12/6/12; 18RP - 1/10/13.

Thomas also testified about his father's temperament. According to Thomas, when Tom got angry he could not be reasoned with. 9RP 16. "Never back down" was the way Tom lived his life. 9RP 40. The night of the shooting, when Tom sought out and attacked Noy, Tom was as mad as Thomas had ever seen. 9RP 39.

c. The night before the shooting.

The night before the shooting, Mark and Melissa had an argument at home and Melissa left. Sometime after midnight Tom stormed into the house without knocking, and he and Mark got into a "yelling argument" about Melissa that lasted for an extended period of time. Tom was drinking. Mark demanded repeatedly that Tom leave and Tom ignored him. Mark ended up leaving to pick up Melissa. When they returned, Tom was just driving away. This happened approximately 2:00 a.m. 4RP 17-18; 13RP 2-3; Ex. 102, 103. During the argument Tom threatened Mark, saying "bullets will fly." 4RP 31.

d. The night of the shooting.

i. The invasion of the Bennetts' home.

Thomas, who was 19 at the time, testified that at about 11:00 p.m. the evening of March 29, 2010, he and his mother Sally Bennett were home. Thomas had just gone to bed. Tom was not home, but his El Camino was parked in front. Thomas heard a knock at the front door and

Sally asked him to answer it. Several masked men armed with guns then kicked in the door, attacked them and tied them up. The men demanded to know where the El Camino driver was, and the location of the safe. 8RP 77-79.

Thomas told them his dad drove the El Camino and was not home. 8RP 80. Thomas also said they had no safe. 8RP 81. One of the men pistol whipped Thomas and another punched Sally in the face. 8RP 82. Two men were African American and one was white with long blond hair. 8RP 85. The men bound Thomas and Sally with zip ties, searched the house, and eventually left 8RP 79-84.

Thomas and Sally soon freed themselves and called Tom; they did not call the police. 8RP 86-88. Tom came home and was very upset, more angry than Thomas had ever seen him. 8RP 90; 9RP 39. Thomas testified Tom believed Noy was involved in the robbery, because although they no longer had a safe, they had one many years before when Noy lived there. 8RP 81, 90. Tom left to try to find Noy, and Thomas went with him. Tom did not drive his own car, but instead drove a car belonging to one of his customers who had left it at Tom's repair shop. 8RP 92-93. Although they did not know exactly where Noy lived, they knew he lived in Kent. 8RP 92-93. On the way, Tom stopped and bought beer, which he drank. 8RP

101. Tom dialed Noy's cell phone, but Noy did not answer, at least not initially. 8RP 96.

3. Noy's recorded statement about the evening of March 30th.

Noy was taken into custody without incident shortly after the shooting. He gave a recorded statement to the police³ about that night. He had previously tried to cut off all contact with Tom because Tom was not a good person and had tried to take advantage of him in the past. Several months before he and Tom had a dispute over work Tom had done on Noy's car; Noy believed he had paid for everything but Tom disagreed. Noy had not seen or spoken with Tom for several months before the shooting. Supp. CP _ (Sub No. 152, Phasay Statement, p. 4, 15).

On the night of the shooting Noy was out with friends when he received at least one phone call from Tom but did not answer it. Around 2:00 a.m. on March 30th, Noy received a "distress call" from Thomas saying he had a flat tire and needed help. Noy thought it odd that Thomas did not call Tom for help, particularly because Tom had called Noy out of the blue a short time earlier. Noy thought he was being set up and told Thomas he could not help. Id., at 3-4, 20, 112).

³ The transcript of the recorded interview prepared by the state (Supp. CP __ (Sub No. 152, Phasay Statement)) is not entirely accurate and does not adequately convey the emotion behind and the contextual meaning of Noy's words. The court is therefore encouraged to view the unredacted video of the interview. Pretrial Ex. 1.

Noy spoke with Tom a short time later and asked if Thomas was okay. Tom was angry and said that he wanted to meet. <u>Id.</u>, at 20, 113. Tom said Noy's "nigger friends" from Noy's tattoo shop had robbed him. <u>Id.</u>, at 141-43. Noy was worried that if he did not meet with Tom and Thomas, they would come to his house, so he agreed to meet at the Top Food in Auburn. He was worried from the way Tom sounded that Tom might try to beat him up. <u>Id.</u>, at 5. He was also concerned that Tom might have a gun. <u>Id.</u>, at 115. He therefore brought a Glock 9 mm handgun with him. Id., at 5.

Noy told the investigating officers he brought the gun for protection. He did not intend to do anything to Tom. <u>Id.</u>, at 11. He intended to talk to Tom about what Tom was upset about and straighten it out. <u>Id.</u>, at 65, 87. He explained to the officers:

I'm just, I, I want to go down there and just talk to him. Because why would he set me up. That's what I want to figure out. What is it, you know that was so important for him to have his son call and lie to me about his son having a tire broken and you know, he was baiting his son to me, to get to me you know. Like to me that's a lot.

•••

You know that's a lot if someone you know, if someone is going to want you, want to meet you that bad to get to you, you know, I'm the type of guy that I need to you know, straighten things out. I need to go straighten out you know, with Tom. That's why I went down there and said hey, man I'm going to talk you. You know. I didn't expect him to want to kidnap me. I didn't expect him to attack me...

<u>Id.</u>, at 66. Detective Jordan confirmed that Tom was a stocky man and outweighed Noy by 70 pounds. 2RP 40.

Noy did not want to park in the middle of the Top Food lot, so he parked near some apartments across the street. When he walked into the lot a car sped toward him. Tom drove fast and stopped suddenly near Noy as if he was trying to intimidate Noy. Tom opened the door to the backseat and yelled at Noy to get in. Noy refused, afraid of what might happen to him. Id., at 6, 10, 23-25, 68, 95-97.

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