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

C. ARGUMENT 

1. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXCLUDED 
IRRELEVANT EVIDENCE REGARDING THE 
VICTlM’S PAST INTERACTION WITH PHASAY’S 
BROTHER. 

Phasay first appeals the trial court’s decision to exclude 

evidence that, in the day or two prior to the fatal encounter in the 

Auburn parking lot, Bennett angrily confronted Phasay’s brother, 

Mark, regarding turmoil in Mark’s relationship with Bennett’s 

stepdaughter. The trial court disagreed with Phasay, and he now 

contends that his conviction should be reversed on this ground. 

Phasay’s claim is without merit. 
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Though a defendant in a criminal case has the right to 

present a defense, this right is not unfettered — for instance, a 

V 

defendant does not have a right to submit irrelevant evidence. 

State v. Rehak, 67 Wn. App. 157, 162, 834 P.2d 651 (1992). ln 

determining whether to admit evidence of an individuaI’s prior acts, 

the evidence should be excluded if it is not logically relevant to a 

material issue or its probative value is outweighed by its prejudicial 

effect. State v. Greathouse, 113 Wn.'App. 889, 918, 56 P.3d 569 

(2002). The admission of evidence lies within the discretion of the 

trial court, and its decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an 

abuse of that discretion. |, 67 Wn. App. at 162. Such an 
abuse exists only where no reasonable person would take the 

position adopted by the trial court. @4 

Here, it was uncontested that Phasay was estranged from 

his brother during the relevant period of time, was not present 

during the argument between his brother and Bennett, and was not 

aware of it on the night that he shot Bennett to death. 4RP 21; 8RP 

110. Furthermore, there was no reason to suppose that his step- 

daughter’s marital difficulties prompted Bennett to meet with 

Phasay on the night he was shot. As Thomas made clear, Bennett
_ 

felt compelled to seek out Phasay due to his belief that Phasay had 
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orchestrated the home-invasion robbery at Bennett’s home hours 

earlier. 8RP 91. Nevertheless, Phasay sought to introduce 

evidence of the argument between Mark and Bennett under the
A 

theory that it would somehow "compIete the picture" of the conflict 

between Bennett and himself, in particular by describing Bennett’s 

» character to the fullest extent. 4RP 12, 15. 

The trial court properly exercised its discretion here. The 

court recognized the significant differences between the identities 

of the actors in the two events, the lapse in time between them, and 

the absence of any carryover in motivating animus. 5RP 3-4. The 

trial court observed that Phasay could appropriately testify or 

otherwise present evidence of his own knowledge of Bennett’s 

violent disposition, insofar as such information would pertain to his 

purported exercise of self-defense, but could not introduce 

evidence of prior episodes of Bennett’s hostility of which he was 

unaware, merely to impugn Bennett’s character in violation of ER 

403. 5RP 4. 

Phasay’s reliance on State v. Grier, 168 Wn. App. 635, 278 

P.3d 225 (2012), is misplaced. In gg, the defendant was 

accused of shooting a fellow partygoer to death. State v. Grier, 150 
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Wn. App. 619, 627-28, 208 P.3d 1221 (2009).3 Grier’s defense was 

somewhat contradictory, and alternatively maintained that the State 

had failed to prove she was armed at the time of the victim’s death 

or that she had any guns in her possession on the day in question, 

and that if she had indeed shot the victim, she had done so to 

protect her adult son. Qger, 150 Wn. App. at 630-631. 

On appeal, Grier challenged, inter alia, the trial court’s 

decision to allow the State to present evidence that Grier had 

brandished a gun at a dinner party several days before she shot the 

victim. _QQ_e_rg, 168 Wn. App. at 643-44. Division Two rejected 

Grier’s claim of irrelevance cursorily, with almost no discussion. 

The appellate court further noted that even if, assuming arguendo, 

the evidence was improperly admitted, it was surely harmless. ld, 

at 651. 

ge; offers no support for Phasay’s claim. As the trial court 

observed, it did not exclude evidence of Bennett’s argument with 

Mark simply because of its remoteness in time from the shooting. 

Rather, the trial court based its decision on the simple fact that the 

3 The matter followed a lengthy course through Washington’s appellate 
courts before its ultimate resolution. ln its 2012 decision, Division Two of the 
Court of Appeals declined to repeat the facts of the case, instead noting that it 
would incorporate by reference the factual narrative it provided in its 2009 
opinion. Qgg, 168 Wn. App. at 638. 
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earlier argument had no connection to the events in the Auburn 

parking lot, either in terms of Bennett’s motivation or Phasay’s 

subjective knowledge. 13RP 14·15. Unlike in |, in which the 
defendant posited a claim that she did not possess guns, thereby 

making relevant the fact that she had been seen displaying a 

firearm a few days earlier, here there was no aspect of Phasay’s 

self-defense claim that was connected to the fact that his victim had 

been involved, a day or two earlier, in an argument with Phasay's 

estranged brother on wholly unrelated grounds. 

Under these circumstances, it cannot fairly be said that the 

trial court reached a decision no reasonable judge would make. 

Accordingly, Phasay’s contention should be rejected. 

2. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED 
EXPERT TESTIMONY BY A CRIME SCENE 
RECONSTRUCTIONIST. 

Phasay’s second claim on appeal is two-fold. First, he 

asserts that the trial court erred by allowing Jon Nordby, a ballistics 

and forensic expert, to testify about his conclusions regarding the 

timing of Phasay’s pistol-whipping of Bennett. Phasay contends 

that Nordby’s testimony in this regard was so speculative as to be 

of little use to the jury. Next, Phasay argues that Nordby’s 

testimony on this subject should have been excluded because it 
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was based on findings that the State failed to timely disclose to 

defense counsel. That is, Phasay frames this contention as a 

matter of prosecutorial malfeasance. Both of Phasay’s claims are 

without merit. 

The decision to admit expert testimony, and to what extent, 

is a matter of the trial court’s discretion. State v. Swan, 114 Wn.2d 

613, 655, 790 P.2d 610 (1990). The trial court’s determination 

should be reversed only where it is shown to be an abuse of that 

discretion. State v. Cheatam, 150 Wn. 2d 626, 645, 81 P.3d 830 

(2003); see also State v. Nelson, 152 Wn. App. 755, 765·66, 219 

P.3d 100 (2009) (noting that the question before the reviewing court 

is not whether it would reach the same decision as the lower court, 

but whether the lower court’s determination was tenable). 

Although Nordby was unable to definitively conclude that 

Phasay struck Bennett’s skull with his pistol after he had shot 

Bennett, the expert was satisfied by his comprehensive review of 

the evidence that the wound caused by the pistol-whipping 

happened perl—mortem, i.e., at or near the time of death. 10RP 53, 

85. Such a determination was likely beyond the abilities of the 

average lay juror to make on his or her own, and bore significant 

relevance insofar as it related to the jury’s task of deciding what 
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had transpired in the parking lot where Bennett was killed and 

whether Phasay acted out of fear or anger. The prosecutor’s
j 

suggestion to the jury that the blunt-force injury was the product of 

post-shooting anger was simply a reasonable inference that he was

i 

entitled to advocate in his closing rebuttal. 15RP 71. 

As to the issue of prosecutorial malfeasance, it should be 

noted that Phasay’s description of the trial record is somewhat 

inaccurate. Phasay did not seek to have Nordby’s testimony 

regarding the pistol—whipping excluded on this basis. Rather, he 

moved for mistrial, and his motion was denied. 10RP 9-11, 13.
— 

Phasay does not challenge the trial court’s denial of his request for 

a mistrial in his brief; instead, he asserts that the trial court should 

have provided a remedy - exclusion of testimony — that he did not 

seek. Brief of Appellant, at 44-45. Accordingly, Phasay did not 

properly preserve his claim, and it should be denied pursuant to 

RAP 2.5(a). See also State v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682, 685, 757 

P.2d 492 (1988). 

Moreover, as the trial court observed, a mistrial would have 

been warranted only if Phasay had demonstrated that the State 

withheld from defense counsel the fact that Nordby intended to 

change his original findings. 1ORP 13. The trial court was 
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presented with no such evidence, and further noted that defense 

counsel had, in fact, been well aware that Nordby, originally a o 

defense witness, had been reevaluating those original Endings. 

10RP 13. Consequently, the trial court’s denial of Phasay’s motion 

for mistrial was a reasonable exercise of its discretion.4 

3. THE STATE DID NOT COMMENT ON PHASAY’S 
RIGHT TO COUNSEL. - 

Phasay also asserts that the State improperly infringed on 

his right to counsel when, during his cross—examination of Dr. 

Gerlock, the deputy prosecutor asked Gerlock to confirm that 

Phasay had begun to describe and displays signs that he was 

suffering from PTSD only after he had returned from a court I 

hearing in which his attorneys had expressed concerns to the court 

about their cIient’s psychological wellbeing, and had requested an 

appropriate evaluation. Phasay maintains that the State committed 

misconduct by both commenting on his exercise of his right to 

counsel and by suggesting that his attorneys had encouraged him 

to pretend that he was mentally ill. Phasay’s contentions are 

specious, and should be rejected. 

4 
Sag State v. Young, 129 Wn. App. 468, 473, 119 P.3d 870 (2005) (holding that 

the the grant or denial of a motion for mistrial for abuse of discretion). 
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A deputy prosecutor is forbidden to take any action that will 

"unnecessariIy chill or penalize the assertion of a constitutional right 

and the State may not draw adverse inferences from the exercise 

of a constitutional right." State v. Gregogg, 158 Wn.2d 759, 806, 

147 P.3d 1201 (2006) (internal citations omitted). A prosecutor 

may, however, touch upon a defendant’s exercise of a 

constitutional right so long as he does not "manifestly intend the V 

remarks to be a comment on that right." Qgggq, 158 Wn.2d at 

_ 806-07, ggmg State v. Crane, 116 Wn.2d 315, 331, 804 P.2d 10 

(1991).
A 

Here, following Phasay’s objection to the prosecutor’s 

question to Gerlock, the prosecutor explained that he had no 

interest in suggesting that Phasay’s attorneys had somehow 

directed Phasay to malinger. 13RP 23, 24-25. Rather, the 

prosecutor explained that his intention was to show that Phasay, l 

after learning from his attorneys that they intended to have him 

submit to a forensic psychological evaluation, made a calculated 

decision on his own to pretend that he suffered from heretofore 

undiagnosed and un-exhibited PTSD. 13RP 24-26. The trial court 

accepted the sincerity of the prosecutor’s explanation, and noted 

that he could properly explore the timing of Phasay’s disclosures;
i 
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the court only cautioned the prosecutor to avoid arguing to the jury 

that Phasay had been encouraged by his attorneys to pretend to 

suffer from a mental disorder. 13RP 28-29. Phasay does not, and 

cannot, identify any ensuing instances in which the prosecutor 

disobeyed the trial court’s directive. 

Phasay fails to establish misconduct. The instant matter is 

readily distinguished from the case on which Phasay relies, 

gpg, 184 Wn. App. 360, 336 P.3d 1178 (2014). In gspey, the 

state court of appeals found fault when the prosecutor expressly 

and repeatedly argued to the jurors, in closing, that they assess the 

credibility of the defendant’s post-arrest statement to police with an 

eye to the fact that the defendant had consulted with two attorneys 

prior to his capture, and "had lots of time to figure out what stony he 

was going to tell the poIice." Qpgy, 184 Wn. App. at 365. The 

unspoken implication in the prosecutor’s remarks was obvious: 

Espey had utilized his right to counsel in order to concoct a 

plausible defense. 

Here, in contrast, the prosecutor simply elicited from
l 

Phasay’s psychological expert witness the fact that Phasay first 

began exhibiting symptoms of PTSD only after he learned that his
j 

attorneys wanted to have him evaluated by a forensic specialist. 
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The prosecutor referred in closing not to any nefarious efforts by 

defense counsel, but instead asked the jury to consider whether the 

discovery that he was to be assessed "p|anted a seed" in Phasay’s 

mind, whereby he decided on his own to feign a disorder. In other 

words, the State’s argument had nothing to do with defense 

counsel qua counsel; they were merely the unwitting inspiration for 

Phasay’s malingering. 

In the absence of any actual evidence that the State 

"manifestly intended" to comment on Phasay’s right to counsel or 

suggested, even indirectly, that he had been coached by unethical 

counsel to feign a mental illness, Phasay’s claim of misconduct 

should be denied. 

4. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERRONEOUSLY 
SUGGEST TO OR INSTRUCT THE JURY THAT 
PHASAY HAD A DUTY TO RETREAT. 

Lastly, Phasay contends that the State was somehow 

permitted by the trial court to commit misconduct by suggesting that 

Phasay had a duty to retreat from the scene at the Auburn parking 

lot. Phasay argues that the State’s improper suggestion came in 

the form of his videotaped interrogation by detectives shortly after 

he was arrested, during which they asked Phasay why he did not 

walk or run away following his initial fracas with Bennett, after which 
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Bennett got into his vehicle and prepared to leave. Brief of 

Appellant, at 50-51. 

Phasay asserts that the trial court should not have allowed 

the State to present this evidence because it erroneously indicated 

to the jury that Phasay had a legal obligation to remove himself 

from a threatening situation. He contends that the trial court should 

have granted his request to have the relevant portions of the 

interrogation redacted for this reason. Brief of Appellant, at 50. As 

a procedural matter of some significance, Phasay is mistaken. He 

did not seek redaction of the interrogation on this ground. Rather, 

he asked for redaction on the ground that the interrogating 

detectives’ questions amounted to improper expression of their own 

opinions as to Phasay’s guilt, thereby encroaching on the jury’s 

role. 7RP 39. Phasay cannot demonstrate, nor does he attempt to 

show, that he should be permitted to raise this issue for the first 

time on appeal despite the principle of waiver encapsulated in RAP 

2.5(a).5 

Moreover, an out-of—court police interrogation is in no way 

. the equivalent of an attorney’s arguments to the jury, much less a 

5 The absence of a duty to retreat is a matter of common, rather than 

constitutional, law. E State v. Hiatt, 187 Wash. 226, 237, 60 P.2d 71 (1936); 
State v. Meyer, 96 Wash. 257, 266, 164 P. 926 (1917). 
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court’s instructions. Indeed, Detective Jones readily acknowledged 

during his examination that he often engaged in ruses and deceit 

during interrogations. 8RP 18, 41. Thus thejury had been made 

well aware that a police interview of a suspect is not akin to a trial, 

subject to the same rules and controlling law. Nor did the 

detectives ever claim during their interrogation that Phasay violated 

the law by |declining to flee. 

In contrast, the trial court specifically instructed the jury that 

a person has a legal right to stand his ground and has no duty to 

retreat. CP 154. Ajury is presumed to follow the court’s 

instructions. State v. Foster, 135 Wn.2d 441, 472, 957 P.2d 712 

(1998). And the State directly re-emphasized this point in its 

closing remarks, correctly observing that Washington law does not 

require a person to run away from a threat, but allows the person to
· 

resist with appropriate force. 16RP 50.
_

l 
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I

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